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Group revenue declined to HK$63.1 million compared 
to HK$102.4 million in FY2005 due to lower orders from 
the Group's largest customer, namely the Hong Kong 
Housing Authority (the "HKHA"), and from the private 
housing sector due to slower housing completions and 
increased local competition. 

On a segmental basis, sales of safety surfaces, sports 
surfaces, playground equipment and garden furniture 
declined by approximately 27.2%, 29.0%, 58.0% and 
46.3% respectively, compared to FY2005. However, 
with the introduction of new products, sales of other 
recyclable products increased by approximately 
12.1% compared to FY2005.  

During the year under review, we continued to relocate 
some of our manufacturing operations to the PRC to 
derive greater operational cost savings and fuel further 
expansion. While our new Guangzhou facility was 
successfully completed in February 2006, there was an 
unexpected delay in commercial production. As a 
result, we incurred higher start-up expenses and 
overheads from maintaining both our new facility and 
existing Hong Kong facilities.  

Due to the above adverse factors and rising raw 
material costs, Jets recorded a loss before tax of 
HK$20.6 million in FY2006 compared to a profit before 
tax of HK$18.2 million in FY2005. 

Correspondingly, the Group recorded loss per share of 
7.85 HK cents in FY2006, compared to earnings per 
share of 6.07 HK cents in FY2005. Net asset value per 
share was 30.75 HK cents as at 31 May 2006, 
compared to 40.43 HK cents a year ago.
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Chairman's Statement
The financial year ended 31 May 2006 ("FY2006") was a challenging period for Jets 
Technics International Holdings Limited ("Jets"). We were affected by the continued 
weak demand from the public and private housing sectors in our key market, Hong 
Kong, while the slower-than-expected transition of our manufacturing operations to 
the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") prevented us from realising the full 
potential of this expansion programme. Against such difficult conditions, we have 
embarked on several strategic initiatives to boost sales and lower production costs 
that will position the Group for a more positive performance in FY2007. 

"We have successfully expanded 
our customer base beyond Hong 
Kong and secured new orders 
from Macau, Japan, Spain and 
the PRC market" 
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So Tat Wing
Chairman and Managing Director

 1 September 2006

We believe that the demand from our market in Hong 
Kong will improve gradually over FY2007, as we have 
secured additional orders from new and existing 
customers from the private housing sector subsequent 
to the financial year-end. In particular, we are seeing a 
resumption of healthy orders from our major customer, 
the HKHA, following the successful completion of the 
Initial Public Offering of its Link Reit during FY2006. These 
new orders are expected to boost the Group's revenue 
in the first half of FY2007.    

Apart from a healthier industry outlook, the Group is 
also beginning to reap the benefits of several growth 
initiatives that it had embarked on in FY2006. 

We have successfully expanded our customer base 
beyond Hong Kong and secured new orders from 
Macau, Japan, Spain and the PRC market. In addition, 
we have also expanded our sales and marketing team 
to promote our products in regions such as the Middle 
East and Europe.

We have also developed a new product - fibre wood 
plastic, which is made from a combination of recycled 
plastics and wood wastes. This new product is an ideal 
replacement for natural timber as a building material 
for furniture and outdoor installation given its lower cost 
and superior resistance to weather conditions. We are 
also able to derive better margins from this new 
product as it fetches a higher selling price due to 
higher technical specifications and significantly lower 
manufacturing costs.

We plan to launch this new product in our home 
market, Hong Kong, which has no natural wood 
production and relies entirely on wood imports. 
According to industry analysts, Hong Kong's annual 
wood imports were valued at US$303 million in 2004. 
As this new product does not require any natural wood 
as a raw material in its manufacture, it not only 
reduces our production costs but it is also 
environmentally-friendly, without discounting the quality 
of the end product as a building material. In view of its 
market potential and judging from the reviews from the 
construction and furniture industry, we are confident 
that orders for this new product will gradually increase 
in FY2007.

We have also secured contracts to provide building 
materials such as improved recycled plastic wood 
products to the construction industry on non-project 
basis. This will result in greater certainty of order 
forecasts and ensure recurring revenue from these 
contracts.

While expanding its businesses, Jets continues to 
improve its efficiency and reduce operating costs. Our 
new Guangzhou facility had commenced 
commercial operations in March 2006 and we expect 
further cost savings with the gradual relocation of our 
labour-intensive manufacturing operations to the new 
facility. We had also begun scaling down our existing 
Dongguan facility, which is being under-utilised, and 
expect to transfer all production activities to the 
Guangzhou facility by FY2007. With better utilisation 
and the full migration of labour-intensive operations, 
we expect our new Guangzhou facility to shave off 
more than 10% of overall operating costs. To generate 
greater cost savings, the Group is also planning to shift 
its back-office support to the PRC. 

Having expended considerable resources and efforts 
to widen our geographical markets, develop 
higher-value products, adopt a more efficient business 
model, and establish a low-cost manufacturing base 
in the PRC, we are confident that these initiatives will 
strengthen the Group's resilience to volatile market 
conditions and establish a strong foundation for future 
growth. In the short-term, we should start to see the 
fruits of our achievements leading to a significantly 
better performance in FY2007 compared to FY2006.  

Appreciation

Throughout this challenging year, we continued to 
receive invaluable support from our shareholders, 
customers, business associates, management and 
staff. It is with their support that the Company is able to 
pass this hurdle and developed new avenues of 
growth for a better FY2007. Thus, on behalf of the 
Board of Directors, allow me to express my heartfelt 
appreciation to all of you.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board of Directors, a special 
note of thanks to Ms. Wong Ying Lee and Mr. So Tat 
Chiu, who have resigned as director of the Company, 
for their past contribution and dedication to the 
development of the Company. 

Thank you.

Looking Ahead



Financial Highlights

Operating Results

Revenue 

Gross profit 

(Loss) / profit before tax 

(Loss) / profit after tax 

Net (loss) / profit attributable to shareholders 

Return on total assets (%) 

Return on equity (%) 

(Loss) / earnings per share (HK cents) 

Financial Position

Total assets 

Total debts

Shareholders' equity

Debt to equity ratio (times)

Cash Flows

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities

Cash and bank balances

2006

HK$'000

63,095

9,032

(20,553)

(19,346)

(19,346)

(20.13%)

(25.54%)

(7.85)

96,088

8,871

75,748

0.12

(16,733)

25,055

2005

HK$'000

102,436

44,690

18,188

14,716

14,716

11.57%

14.77%

6.07

127,163

9,542

99,612

0.10

15,326

51,059
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Financial And Operations Review

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries (together the "Group") are principally 
engaged in designing, producing and selling of 
environmentally-friendly recyclable products. The 
Group either sells its products directly to customers 
under its proprietary brands or manages entire 
construction projects from designing, producing, 
supplying to installation. Currently, the Group has a 
product development and design centre, which 
houses its team of in-house engineers and designers 
and production facilities in Hong Kong and the 
People's Republic of China (the "PRC").

The Group's product range may be categorised as 
follows:

Safety Surface: these are safety surface mats used for 
lining the floors of playgrounds, indoor flooring and wall 
protection. These are made principally from recycled tires.

Sports Surface: these are surfaces used for lining the 
floors of indoor and outdoor recreational facilities such 
as jogging tracks, gymnasiums, tennis courts, golf 
driving ranges, indoor games halls and changing 
rooms. These are made principally from recycled tires.

Garden Furniture: these include benches, pergolas, 
covered walkways, shelters, fencing, bins and bicycle 
racks. These are made principally from recycled 
plastic wood.

Playground Equipment: these include slides, multi-play 
systems, merry-go-rounds and swings used in both 
indoor and outdoor playgrounds.

Other Recyclable Products: these include products 
made from recycled plastic wood such as foot 
massage tiles.

Income Statement

Revenue

Revenue decreased by approximately 38.40% or 
HK$39.34 million, from HK$102.44 million in FY2005 to 
HK$63.10 million in FY2006.

Overview

2006
HK$'000         %

 12,134 19.23
  8,324 13.19
  9,589 15.20
 22,374 35.46
 10,674 16.92

 63,095 100.00

Year-on-year
% change

 (27.23)
 (29.00)
 (57.99) 
 (46.33)
 12.13
 
 (38.41)

Revenue

Safety surface 
Sports surface 
Playground equipment 
Garden furniture 
Other products and services

Total

2005
HK$'000         %

 16,675 16.28
  11,724 11.44
  22,828 22.29
 41,690 40.70
 9,519 9.29

 102,436 100.00



06
Financial And Operations Review

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs increased slightly by 
approximately HK$0.04 million or 0.56%, from HK$7.20 
million in FY2005 to HK$7.24 million in FY2006. As the 
Group stepped up its promotional activities to increase 
sales in Hong Kong, Macau, and to penetrate new 
markets in the Middle East and Europe, it incurred 
higher advertising fees as well as traveling, 
entertainment and other related expenses.  

Due to the shrink in market size in Hong Kong, the 
Group has reduced the number of head count of 
Hong Kong sales staff from 24 to 17 and had 
redeployed some of the Hong Kong sales staff to 
explore overseas markets. In or about March and April 
2006, three additional new staff were employed due 
to increased requirements.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 
HK$1.44 million or 8.86%, from HK$16.25 million in 
FY2005 to HK$17.69 million in FY2006.  The increase 
was mainly attributed to:

The Group decided to change its auditors after 
considering the fee structure of Baker Tilly Hong Kong 
Limited and other various reasons as stated in the 
circular to the Company's shareholders dated 30 June 
2006. The proposed change of auditors was approved 
by shareholders of the Company at a special general 
meeting on 18 July 2006.

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the 
decline in orders from the Group's largest customer 
namely the Hong Kong Housing Authority (the "HKHA") 
following budget cuts and re-organisation prior to the 
Initial Public Offering of its Link Reit, which had been 
completed during the year. The Group was also 
affected by lower orders from the private housing 
sector due to slower or extended housing completions, 
higher interest rates, and increased local competition. 
The softer market conditions have resulted in lower 
sales and profit margins as competitors have resorted 
to price cutting to secure orders. 

Following the above, our sales of safety surface, sports 
surface, playground equipment and garden furniture 
decreased by approximately HK$4.54 million or 
27.23%, HK$3.4 million or 29%, HK$13.24 million or 
57.99% and HK$19.32 million or 46.33% respectively, 
however, our sales of other recyclable products 
increased by HK$1.16 million or 12.13% compared to 
the corresponding previous year. 

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased by approximately HK$3.69 
million or 6.39%, from HK$57.75 million in FY2005 to 
HK$54.06 million in FY2006. The decrease was at a 
lower rate compared to the decrease in the turnover 
due to:

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by approximately HK$35.66 
million or 79.79%, from HK$44.69 million in FY2005 to 
HK$9.03 million in FY2006 following the decrease in 
revenue. Gross profit margin decreased by 
approximately 29.32% from 43.63% in FY2005 to 
14.31% in FY2006 due to less than proportionate 
decrease in costs of sales.

the increase in prices of certain metal components 
and petro-chemical-related raw materials;
higher overheads arising from the need to maintain 
both the Hong Kong and China manufacturing 
operations during the relocation of its operations to 
the PRC, which took longer than expected; and
a large proportion of the Group's operating costs 
comprising fixed overheads, hence a lower sales 
level resulted in a lower gross profit margin.

i)

ii)

iii)

increase in staff costs due to severance payments 
to those staff being laid off during the year;
increase in office rent, rates and building 
management fees with the relocation of 
headquarters to a larger premises; and
increase in overseas training costs for staff who 
underwent technical and production courses and 
attended trade shows.

i)

ii)

iii)



07
Financial And Operations Review

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006

Other operating expenses increased from 
approximately HK$3.17 million in FY2005 to HK$5.35 
million in FY2006, resulting an increase of HK$2.18 
million or 68.77%. Such increase was due to the 
increase of bad debt provisions, research and 
development activities such as improved recycled 
plastic wood products and start-up expenses for the 
Group's factory in the PRC. 

In FY2005, the Group recorded a write-back of HK$1 
million of impairment loss for a property, which resulted 
in lower other operating expenses as compared to the 
period under review.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately HK$0.15 
million or 53.57%, from HK$0.28 million in FY2005 to 
HK$0.43 million in FY2006.  The increase was mainly 
attributed to the increase in interest rate.

(Loss)/profit before tax

The Group has incurred a loss before tax of 
approximately HK$20.55 million in FY2006 compared 
to a profit before tax of approximately HK$18.19 million 
in FY2005. This was mainly attributed to lower orders 
from a major customer, weak market conditions, 
higher material costs, price competition and higher 
bad debt provisions. 

Balance Sheet

Non-current assets

As at 31 May 2006, non-current assets amounted to 
approximately HK$28.32 million, an increase of 
HK$0.31 million compared to the corresponding 
previous year. The increase was due mainly to the 
excess of capital expenditure of about HK$4.55 million 
and recognition of deferred tax assets of HK$0.05 
million over the total depreciation charges for property, 
plant and equipment and amortisation for prepaid 
land lease payments for the year amounting to about 
HK$4.29 million.

As at 31 May 2006, current assets amounted to 
approximately HK$67.77 million, a decrease of 
HK$31.38 million compared to the corresponding 
previous year. This was mainly due to the decrease in 
cash and bank balances and accounts receivable of 
approximately HK$26 million and HK$8.84 million 
respectively. The decrease was partially offset by tax 
refunds on profits of approximately HK$2.80 million. The 
reduction in cash and bank balances was the results of 
financing of operating losses, payment of outstanding 
taxes and prepayment of taxes, purchasing of fixed 
assets and distribution of final dividends. The decrease 
in accounts receivable was mainly due to the 
decrease in turnover and increase in provision for 
doubtful debts. The pre-paid tax is refundable as the 
Group has no assessable profits for FY2006.

Current liabilities

As at 31 May 2006, current liabilities amounted to 
approximately HK$12.15 million, a decrease of 
HK$6.19 million compared to the corresponding 
previous year.  The decrease was mainly attributed to 
a decrease in trade and bills payables of 
approximately HK$1.58 million and a decrease in tax 
payable of approximately HK$4.68 million. The 
decrease in trade and bills payables was mainly due 
to shorter credit terms extended by new suppliers.  In 
FY2006, the Group sourced and procured new 
suppliers to manufacture metal products instead of 
purchasing such finished products from third parties, 
aiming to enhance profit margin by increasing 
production activities at the factories. No provision for 
taxation has been made as the Group made a loss in 
FY2006, resulting in lower tax payable as compared to 
the corresponding previous year.

Non-current liabilities

As at 31 May 2006, non-current liabilities amounted to 
approximately HK$8.20 million, a decrease of HK$1.02 
million compared to the corresponding previous year. 
The decrease was mainly attributed to a reduction of 
bank loans and borrowings of approximately HK$0.60 
million and deferred tax liabilities of approximately 
HK$0.42 million resulting from decrease in timing 
difference for taxes.

Other operating expenses Current assets
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The Group will continue to expand its sales and 
marketing team to boost sales and promote its 
products to overseas markets and expand into new 
market segments. The Group will also continue to invest 
in product development to improve its product range 
and reduce material costs.

Having shifted its production activities to the PRC, the 
Group intends to derive greater savings by moving its 
back-office support from Hong Kong to the PRC. The 
Group will open new show rooms and sales depots in 
the PRC to increase sales in the PRC market, as 
opposed to an earlier announcement to open it in 
Hong Kong. 

Taking the Group's cash and bank balances into 
consideration, we believe that the capital resources 
and working capital available to our Group are 
sufficient for our operation requirement for the next six 
to twelve months.

As at 31 May 2006, cash and bank balances 
amounted to approximately HK$25.06 million, a 
decrease of HK$26 million compared to the 
corresponding previous year. The liquidity of the Group 
remains healthy and the Group is capable of 
discharging its obligations in the next twelve months.

Significant factors and trends that may affect 
the Group in the next 12 months

For the next 12 months, the Group expects demand 
from the Hong Kong market to pick up slowly in both 
the public and private housing sectors. There are also 
indications that the Group is beginning to reap the 
benefits from the following growth initiatives that it had 
embarked on in FY2006:  

With the developments as mentioned in the 
paragraphs above, the Group is confident that it will 
perform better in FY2007 compared to FY2006. 

By stepping up its marketing and product 
development efforts, the Group has been able to 
secure additional orders from the HKHA and other 
new and existing customers in July 2006. These 
orders are expected to contribute to the Group's 
revenue in the first half of FY2007. 
    
The Group has developed an improved recycled 
wood product, which is made from recycled 
plastics and wood wastes, in FY2006. This new 
product is an ideal replacement for natural timber 
as a building material for outdoor furniture and 
installation given its lower cost and superior 
resistance to weather conditions. The Group has 
secured contracts to sell the new product to the 
construction industry as building materials on 
non-project basis. 

The Group has expanded its customer base 
beyond Hong Kong with new or more orders from 
the PRC, Macau, Japan and Spain.

a)

b)

c)

Liquidity and Cash Flow



So Tat Wing, Chairman and Managing Director, a 
co-founder of the Group, was appointed to the Board 
on 17 February 2004. Mr. So assumes the chief 
executive officer's role and is primarily responsible for 
steering strategic corporate directions, overall 
management and research and development 
activities of the Group. Mr. So has more than 40 years 
of engineering-related experience of which 21 years 
were in the recycling industry, and has been 
instrumental in our Group's growth and development. 
Prior to joining the Group in 1988, he started Jets 
Construction Engineering Company where he was one 
of the partners and was responsible for steering the 
corporate directions, planning the business strategies 
and the overall management of the business from 
1983 to 1988. From 1974 to 1983, he was a 
Technician with the Electrical and Mechanical 
Department of the Hong Kong Government where he 
was responsible for machinery maintenance and 
repair.

So Tat Chiu was Executive Director from 17 February 
2004 to 28 July 2006. Mr. So, a co-founder of the 
Group and Head of Production and Quality Control 
Department, was responsible for the production and 
quality control functions of the Group. Mr. So has more 
than 21 years of experience in the industry and has 
been instrumental to our Group's growth and 
development. Prior to joining the Group in 1988, he 
was a Partner of Jets Construction Engineering 
Company and was responsible for the production 
functions of its business from 1980 to 1988. From 1978 
to 1980, he was a Supervisor with Lam Wo Limited 
where he was responsible for supervising construction 
works at the work site. 

So Tat Cho, Executive Director, was appointed to the 
Board on 17 February 2004. Mr. So is responsible for 
the production, engineering and installation functions 
of the Group. He has more than 18 years of 
experience in the industry and has been instrumental 
in the Group's growth and development. Prior to joining 
the Group in 1990, he was one of the partners and the 
Manager of Jets Construction Engineering Company 
where he was responsible for production, engineering 
and installation functions of the business from 1986 to 
1990. From 1984 to 1986, he was a Supervisor with First 
Transport Limited where he was responsible for 
operating a fleet of vehicles.

Wong Ying Lee was Executive Director from 17 
February 2004 to 28 July 2006. Ms. Wong was Head of 
Sales and Marketing Department of the Group. She 
has more than 18 years of experience in sales and 
marketing.  Prior to joining the Group in 1990, she was 
the Sales and Marketing Director of Kamei Garment 
Inc. (USA) from 1988 to 1990 where she was 
responsible for the operations of the sales and 
marketing department of the company which 
included purchasing, maintaining customer 
relationships, inventory management and sales and 
marketing. Ms. Wong holds a Hong Kong Certificate of 
Education (Advanced Levels).

Chan Yin Ming, Dennis, Executive Director, was 
appointed to the Board on 1 July 2006. He is 
responsible for the Group's business strategy, merger 
and acquisition, business development, management 
control system and banking and finance. Mr. Chan is a 
graduate of the John Molson School of Business of 
Concordia University, Canada and has obtained a 
Graduate Diploma in Public Accountancy from the 
McGill University, Canada. He is a member of the 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, an 
associate member of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, United Kingdom, an 
associate member of the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators, United Kingdom, and a 
member of the Chartered Institute of Purchasing and 
Supply, United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is a director of 
various listed and unlisted companies in Hong Kong 
and overseas countries. Mr. Chan served as director 
and chief financial officer of various listed companies 
in Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States of 
America. He has more than 29 years of experience in 
public accountancy, management consultancy, 
manufacturing, distribution, retailing, logistics, 
telecommunications and financial services.

Board Of Directors
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Ong Chor Wei, Non-executive Director, was appointed 
to the Board on 18 May 2004. He is presently the 
Managing Director of UPB International Capital Ltd. Mr. 
Ong is currently a non-executive director of MP Logistics 
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the 
Growth Enterprise Market ("GEM") of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited). In addition, he was a 
non-executive director of Eagle Nice (International) 
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) during the 
period from October 2002 to October 2005 and an 
executive director of FX Creations International Holdings 
Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange Limited) during the period from 
January 2002 to April 2006. He has over 16 years of 
experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Ong 
graduated from The London School of Economics and 
Political Science, University of London with a Bachelor of 
Laws degree. He also holds a Master degree in Business 
Administration jointly awarded by the University of Wales 
and University of Manchester. Mr. Ong is an associate 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Au Chun Kwok, Augustus, Independent Non-executive 
Director, was appointed to the Board on 18 May 2004. 
He is presently a Solicitor and Partner of the law firm of 
Vincent T.K. Cheung, Yap & Co. where he is responsible 
for advising on corporate finance matters including 
initial public offerings, placements, right issues, 
convertibles, changes of domicile, group 
reorganisations and on Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
listing rules and compliance matters. He also advises 
on takeovers of public and private companies, 
investments involving PRC companies and general 
commercial matters. Mr. Au obtained a Bachelor of 
Laws Degree from The London School of Economics 
and Political Science, University of London and is a 
Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.

Seah Hou Kee, Independent Non-executive Director, 
was appointed to the Board on 18 May 2004. Mr. Seah 
is currently the Managing Partner of HK Seah & Co, a 
public accounting firm. He was previously the Audit 
Director of The J.M. and Co. and the General Manager 
in charge of finance and administration in Sharp-Roxy 
Sales (Singapore) Pte Ltd ("Sharp-Roxy"), a member of 
Sharp Corporation, Japan. He was with Sharp-Roxy    

from 1986 to 2000. Prior to 1986, Mr. Seah held senior 
financial and accounting positions in Camco Asia Pte 
Ltd, Polariod Singapore Pte Ltd and an audit position 
with Arthur Andersen & Co. Mr. Seah has been a 
Director of Sincere Management Consultants Pte Ltd, a 
management consultancy company, since 1997, and 
Fulyan Pte Ltd, a property investment company, since 
1994. He is a member of the Singapore Institute of 
Directors. Mr. Seah graduated with a Bachelor of 
Commerce in Accountancy (Honours) from Nanyang 
University and is a member of the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Singapore and CPA Australia.

Cheung King Kwok, Independent Non-executive 
Director, was appointed to the Board on 18 May 2004. 
He is presently the Managing Director of Consult Link 
Pte Ltd where he provides corporate training and 
financial consultancy services. From 1997 to 2001, he 
was the Executive Director of The Grande Holdings 
Limited where he was responsible for management, 
strategic planning and corporate restructuring. From 
1992 to 1997, he was the Group Finance Director of 
The Grande Holdings Limited where he was in charge 
of financial and treasury management, mergers, 
acquisitions, disposals, rehabilitation plans and rights 
issues. From 1991 to 1992, Mr. Cheung was the Chief 
Finance Officer of a division of The Grande Holdings 
Limited where he was in charge of financial and 
treasury management. From 1984 to 1990, he was an 
Audit Manager and Senior Audit Manager of Coopers 
and Lybrand where his responsibilities were managing 
of audit, assignments, reviews, fraud investigations and 
litigation support.  From 1978 to 1983, he was an Audit 
Staff Accountant and Senior Audit Staff Accountant of 
Arthur Andersen & Co. where he carried out audit, 
investigations and due diligence reviews. Mr. Cheung 
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) from the 
University of Manitoba, Canada. He is a Certified Public 
Accountant in Singapore, a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow 
member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, United Kingdom.

Save that So Tat Wing, So Tat Chiu and So Tat Cho are 
brothers, none of the Directors are related to each 
other or the substantial shareholders of the Company.

Board Of Directors
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Liu Jing Hao, General Manager of Guangzhou 
Operations, joined the Group in 2004 and is 
responsible for overall management function of the 
Group's PRC operations, which includes sales and 
marketing, manufacturing, and finance. Ms. Liu has 
more than 30 years of experience in manufacturing, 
marketing and sales in Hong Kong and the PRC. From 
1995 to 2004, she was the President of Sales for China 
region of Concordia Paper Limited, the President of 
Guangzhou Free Trade Zone Concordia Paper Limited 
and the President of Guangzhou Xiehui Paper Industry 
Co., Limited. From 1990 to 1995, Ms. Liu was an 
Electrical Engineer with Guangzhou Wan Bao Group 
Co., Limited. Prior to which, she was a Technical Staff of 
Guangzhou Umbrella Product Co., Limited. Ms. Liu is a 
graduate of the Guangzhou Institute of Technology 
majoring in industrial automation.

Chung Ka Kui, Finance Manager, is responsible for 
the accounting and finance functions of the Group. 
Mr. Chung has more than 14 years of experience in 
auditing, accounting and finance. Prior to joining the 
Group in 2001, he was the Finance Manager of 
Worldwide Technology Development Ltd. where he was 
responsible for the accounting and finance functions 
of the company. From 1996 to 2001, he was the 
Finance Manager of Chen Hsong Holdings Limited 
where he was responsible for the finance and 
accounting functions of the group. From 1993 to 1996, 
he was the Senior Accountant II of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu where he was responsible for auditing 
companies and flotation assignments. From 1991 To 
1992, he was a Semi-Senior of Albert Chin, Chow Him 
& Co., CPA where he was responsible for auditing, 
taxation and due diligence assignments. From 1990 to 
1991, he was a Junior Audit Clerk of K.H. Law Co., CPA 
where he was responsible for auditing, accounting and 
taxation.  Mr. Chung has a Diploma in Business 
Administration from the Shue Yan College, Hong Kong 
and is a fellow member of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United 
Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants.

Yu Sui Fan, General Sales Manager, is responsible for 
overall sales functions of the Group's operations in Hong 
Kong. Prior to which, she was Marketing Manager of the 
Group. Prior to joining the Group in 2002, she was a Sales 
Executive of Wah Lam Building Material Ltd. from 2001 to 
2002 and was responsible for the sales functions. From 
1994 to 2001, she was a Customer Service Officer of Jets 
Technics Ltd. where she was responsible for customer 
service and co-ordination and operation of contracts. 
From 1989 to 1994, she was a Sales Administrative 
Officer of Shun Hing Electric Works and Engineering Co. 
Ltd. where she was involved in administrative works and 
shipping delivery. Ms. Yu holds a Diploma in Marketing 
from the Chartered Institute of Marketing.

Chan Wan Nei, Procurement and Logistics Manager, 
is responsible for developing, maintaining and 
monitoring logistics policies, procedures and functions 
such as negotiations with suppliers, purchase of 
materials, order processing, inventory control and 
warehousing.  She has more than 11 years of 
experience in the industry.  Prior to joining the Group in 
1995, she was a part-time clerk with the Shanghai 
Commercial Bank Limited where she was responsible 
for administrative and clerical functions.  Ms. Chan is a 
Certified Playground Safety Inspector accredited by 
the National Recreation and Park Association and has 
a Diploma in Secretarial Studies from the Hong Kong 
Management Association.

Li Chun Wa, Senior Manager (Overseas Sales), is 
responsible for overall sales functions of international 
markets excluding China market. Mr. Li joined the 
Group in May 2000. Before assuming his current 
position, he was the Senior Sales Manager and a 
Senior Project Manager of the Group's operations in 
Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li has had 
more than 18 years of experience in marketing and 
sales and project management with various Hong 
Kong companies.

Wong Chi Bun, Business Development Manager
(China Region), joined the Group in 1994 as an 
Administration and Accounting Assistant and was 
promoted to Credit Controller in 2000 and Assistant 
Business Development Manager of the Hong Kong 
operations in 2005 before assuming his current 
position. He is responsible for overall sales and business 
development functions in the PRC.

Lau Yeung Wai, Senior Engineering and Project 
Manager, is responsible for the Group's engineering 
and technical functions in Hong Kong, which includes 
project management of construction projects. Mr. Lau 
first joined the Group in 2000 as an Assistant Project 
Manager and was promoted to Project Manager in 
2003 before assuming his current position. Prior to 
which, he was a Project Engineer with a building 
contractor in Hong Kong. Mr. Lau holds a Graduate 
Diploma in Management Studies from the Hong Kong 
University, a Bachelor of Science degree in building 
surveying from the University of Northumbria at 
Newcastle and a High Diploma in building technology 
and management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University. 

None of the Executive Officers are related to each 
other or the substantial shareholders of the Company.

Executive Officers



Recycling Industry Creates
Environmentally-friendly Environment And 
Preserves Natural Resources

Financial Contents

13 REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
17 STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTORS 
18 REPORT OF THE AUDITORS 
 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 Consolidated:
19   Income statement
20   Balance sheet
21   Statement of changes in equity
22   Cash flow statement 
 Company:
24   Income statement
25   Balance sheet
26   Statement of changes in equity 
27 Notes to financial statements

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006



13

Report of the Directors

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited 
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 May 2006.

The Company

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies 
Act 1981 of Bermuda on 9 February 2004.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 30 
June 2004.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.  Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are 
set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends

Details of the results of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2006 and the state of affairs of 
the Company and of the Group at 31 May 2006 are set out in the financial statements on pages 19 to 46.

During the year, no interim dividend was declared and paid, and the directors of the Company do not 
recommend any payment of final dividend this year.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

So Tat Wing  (Chairman and Managing Director)
So Tat Chiu (Resigned on 28 July 2006)
So Tat Cho
Wong Ying Lee (Resigned on 28 July 2006)
Chan Yin Ming, Dennis (Appointed on 1 July 2006)

Non-executive director:

Ong Chor Wei

Independent non-executive directors:

Au Chun Kwok Augustus
Cheung King Kwok
Seah Hou Kee

In accordance with Bye-law 86 and Bye-law 85(6) of the Company, Mr. Ong Chor Wei and Mr. Chan Yin Ming, 
Dennis will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of the year, nor at any time during the year, was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial 
year had any interest, direct or deemed, in the share capital of the Company and related corporations, except 
the following:

Shares registered
in the names of directors

Other shareholdings in which 
directors are deemed to 

have an interest

As at As at As at As at

1 June 2005 31 May 2006 1 June 2005 31 May 2006

The Company

So Tat Wing – – 171,408,612 171,408,6122

So Tat Chiu1 – – 171,408,612 171,408,6122

So Tat Cho – – 171,408,612 171,408,6122

Jets Technics International Limited

(ordinary shares of US$1.00 each)

So Tat Wing 15,000 15,0002 – –

So Tat Chiu1 15,000 15,0002 – –

So Tat Cho 15,000 15,0002 – –

Wong Ying Lee1 5,000 5,000

1. Mr. So Tat Chiu and Ms. Wong Ying Lee have resigned as Executive Directors of the Company with effect from 28 July 2006.

2. As at the date of this report, Jets Technics International Limited holds 171,408,612 shares in the Company.  The Company's 
directors, namely Mr. So Tat Wing and Mr. So Tat Cho and the Company’s ex-director, namely Mr. So Tat Chiu, each holds 
30% of the issued and paid-up share capital in Jets Technics International Limited.  Accordingly, each of them is deemed 
to be interested in the 171,408,612 shares in the Company held by Jets Technics International Limited.

3.  Mr. Chan Yin Ming, Dennis has been appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2006. He 
has no interests, direct or deemed, in the share capital of the Company and related corporations.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the above-mentioned interests between 31 May 2006 and 
21 June 2006.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests, direct or 
deemed, in shares, convertible securities, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of any related 
corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year (or date of appointment if later) or at the end of the 
financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, no director received or became entitled to receive a benefit by 
means of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the 
director is a member or with a corporation in which the director has a substantial financial interest.
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Share option scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme known as the Jets Technics Share Option Scheme (the 
“Scheme”), for the granting of options to reward and retain employees of the Group and of associated companies 
whose services are vital to the Group’s well-being and success.  Pursuant to the Scheme, the Group Employees 
who are also directors and controlling shareholders (holding 15% or more of the shareholding of the Company’s 
issued share capital) of the Company and their associates are not eligible to participate in the Scheme.  Options 
are granted for a term of 10 years to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares at an exercise price determined 
by the Remuneration Committee, established by the Company pursuant to the Code of Corporate Governance, 
at its absolute discretion at (a) a price equal to the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares on 
the SGX-ST for the five consecutive market days immediately prior to the relevant date of grant of the options (the 
“Average Price”); or (b) a discount to the Average Price provided that the maximum discount which may be given 
in respect of any options shall not exceed 20% of the Average Price.  

These options do not entitle the holders to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of any other 
corporation.

The Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee which comprises Mr. Cheung King Kwok, Ms. Wong 
Ying Lee and Mr. Au Chun Kwok Augustus. However, Ms. Wong Ying Lee has resigned as the Committee member 
with effect from 28 July 2006, Mr Ong Chor Wei have been appointed in place of Ms Wong.

Since the approval of the Scheme on 18 May 2004, no share options have been granted by the Company.

Audit Committee

The nature and extent of the functions performed by the Audit Committee are described in the Annual Report 
under “Corporate Governance Report”. 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, 
Certified Public Accountants, as the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ external auditors at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.
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Auditors

The auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong resigned on 23 May 2006 and an 
ordinary resolution was passed during the Special General Meeting on 18 July 2006 to appoint Baker Tilly Hong 
Kong Limited as auditors of the Company and its subsidiaries and to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting.  Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited audited the financial statements of the Company and the 
Group for the financial year ended 31 May 2006.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company and its 
subsidiaries will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

 
So Tat Wing  So Tat Cho
Chairman and Managing Director Executive Director

1 September 2006
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We, So Tat Wing and So Tat Cho, being two of the directors of Jets Technics International Holdings Limited, do 
hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors,

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, income statements and statements of changes in equity of the 
Company and of the Group and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group together with the notes 
thereto, as set out on pages 19 to 46, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company and of the Group as at 31 May 2006, and of the loss of the business and changes in 
equity of the Company and of the Group and the cash flows of the Group for the year then ended; and

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
off its debts as and when they fall due.

The board of directors approved and authorised these financial statements for issue on 1 September 2006.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

 
So Tat Wing So Tat Cho
Chairman and Managing Director Executive Director

1 September 2006
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To the members of
Jets Technics International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Jets Technics International Holdings Limited on pages 19 to 
46 which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors whose opinion thereon is set out on 
page 17. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements 
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 
1981, and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for 
the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by the Company’s directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements 
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of 
the Group as at 31 May 2006 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group and the loss of the Company for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

BAKER TILLY HONG KONG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 1 September 2006

Chan Cheuk Chi
Practising Certificate number P01137
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6 63,095 102,436

Cost of sales (54,063) (57,746)

Gross profit 9,032 44,690

Other income 6 1,127 388

Selling and distribution costs (7,244) (7,203)

Administrative expenses (17,691) (16,245)

Other operating expenses (5,349) (3,165)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7 (20,125) 18,465

Finance costs 8 (428) (277)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (20,553) 18,188

Income tax 9 1,207 (3,472)

NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

 ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS (19,346) 14,716

DIVIDENDS 10 4,551 10,390

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11
 – Basic (HK cents) (7.85) 6.07

 – Diluted (HK cents) (7.85) 6.07
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 13,624 13,004
Prepaid land lease payments 14 14,650 15,005
Deferred tax assets 20 45 –

28,319 28,009

Current assets
Inventories 15 13,762 12,303
Prepaid land lease payments 14 355 355
Accounts receivable 16 21,488 30,326
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 4,313 5,111
Tax refundable 2,796 –
Cash and bank balances 25,055 51,059

67,769 99,154

Total assets 96,088 127,163

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables 3,173 4,752
Accrued liabilities and other payables 18 3,875 3,618
Deposits received from customers 4,421 4,537
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 19 676 744
Tax payable –   4,684

12,145 18,335

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 19 8,195 8,798
Deferred tax liabilities 20 –      418

8,195   9,216

Total liabilities 20,340 27,551

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 21 54,200 54,200
Reserves 21,548 45,412

Total equity 75,748 99,612

Total liabilities and equity 96,088 127,163
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Notes

Share 
capital
HK$’000

Share  
premium 
HK$’000

Translation
 reserve
HK$’000

(Accumulated 
losses)/

retained 
profits

HK$’000
Total

HK$’000

Balance as at 1 June 2004 42,540 – – 16,475 59,015
Issue of shares to public 11,660 36,495 – – 48,155
Share issue expenses – (11,884) – – (11,884)
Net profit for the year – – – 14,716 14,716
Dividends 10 – – – (10,390) (10,390)

Balance as at 31 May 2005
  and 1 June 2005 54,200 24,611# – 20,801# 99,612
Exchange differences 
 arising on translation of
 operations outside 
 Hong Kong – – 33 – 33
Net loss for the year – – – (19,346) (19,346)
Dividends 10 – – – (4,551) (4,551)

Balance as at 31 May 2006 54,200 24,611# 33# (3,096)# 75,748

# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$21,548,000 (2005: HK$45,412,000) in the consolidated 
balance sheet.
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Notes
2006

HK$’000
2005

HK$’000
(Restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before tax (20,553) 18,188

Adjustments for:
 Interest income 6 (897) (272)
 Depreciation 7 4,592 3,470
 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 7 355 355
 Provision for doubtful debts and bad debts written off 7 2,100 1,640
 Write-back of provision for doubtful debts 7 (481) (383)
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 7 (233) (60)
 Write-off of property, plant and equipment 7 – 75
 Write-back of impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 – (1,000)
 Finance costs 8 428 277

Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes (14,689) 22,290
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,459) 503
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 7,218 (1,399)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 798 2,262
Decrease in trade and bills payables (1,579) (2,515)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued liabilities and other payables 257 (327)
(Decrease)/increase in deposits received from customers (116) 139

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (9,570) 20,953
Bank interest paid (428) (267)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments – (10)
Hong Kong profits tax paid (6,735) (5,350)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (16,733)  15,326

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (5,781) (6,729)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 802 30
Interest received 897 272

Net cash outflow from investing activities (4,082) (6,427)
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Notes
2006

HK$’000
2005

HK$’000
(Restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issue of shares for cash consideration – 48,155
Share issue expenses – (11,884)
Repayment of bank loans (671) (730)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments – (267)
Dividends paid 10 (4,551) (10,390)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (5,222) 24,884

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (26,037) 33,783

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 51,059 17,276

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 33 –

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 25,055 51,059

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 25,055 51,059
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Notes
 2006

HK$’000
2005

HK$’000

Revenue 6 – 18,000

Administrative expenses (502) (460)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7 (502) 17,540

Finance costs 8 – –

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (502) 17,540

Income tax 9 – –

NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (502) 17,540

DIVIDENDS 10 4,551 10,390
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Notes
2006

HK$’000
2005

HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 12 48,072 48,072

Current assets

Due from subsidiaries 12 48,094 53,147

Cash and bank balances 9 9

48,103 53,156

Total assets 96,175 101,228

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share capital 21 54,200 54,200

Reserves 41,975 47,028

Total equity 96,175 101,228
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Notes

Share
capital
HK$’000

Share 
premium 
HK$’000

Contributed
Surplus 

(note 22)
HK$’000

(Accumulated
losses)/ 

retained 
profits

HK$’000
Total

HK$’000

Balance as at 1 June 2004 42,540 – 15,282 (15) 57,807
Issue of shares to public 11,660 36,495 – – 48,155
Share issue expenses – (11,884) – – (11,884)
Net profit for the year – – – 17,540 17,540
Dividends 10 – – – (10,390) (10,390)

Balance as at 31 May 2005 and 
 1 June 2005 54,200 24,611# 15,282# 7,135# 101,228
Net loss for the year – – – (502) (502)
Dividends 10 – – – (4,551) (4,551)

Balance as at 31 May 2006 54,200 24,611# 15,282# 2,082# 96,175

# These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of HK$41,975,000 (2005: HK$47,028,000) in the balance sheet of the 
Company.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION

 The Company was domiciled and incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability 
under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda on 9 February 2004.  The Company’s shares were listed on the 
SGX-ST on 30 June 2004.

 The Company is a subsidiary of Jets Technics International Limited (“Jets International”), a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), which is considered by the directors to be the Company’s 
ultimate holding company at the balance sheet date.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.  The principal activities of the Company’s 
subsidiaries are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

 The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda.  The principal place of business of the Company is located at 18/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun 
Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

 The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and employed 230 (2005: 179) employees as at 31 May 2006.

 Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the Group 
in preparation for the initial public offering of the Company’s shares on the SGX-ST, on 14 May 2004, the 
Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Classic Master Limited (“Classic Master”), the then 
holding company of the other subsidiaries, in consideration of and in exchange for (a) the allotment and 
issue of 326,900,800 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company to the then shareholder 
of Classic Master; and (b) the credit as fully paid the 1,000,000 nil-paid ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each, at 
par, in the capital of the Company issued to the then shareholder of Classic Master.  Further details of the 
Group Reorganisation are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 June 2004.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), which comprise standards and interpretations approved 
by the International Accounting Standards Boards (the “IASB”), and International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 
and Standing Interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee that remain in 
effect.

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), being the 
functional and reporting currency of the principal subsidiaries in the Group.

 
 In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 

(collectively referred to as the “New IFRSs”) issued by the IASB and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (the “IFRIC”) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the 
accounting period beginning on 1 June 2005.  The adoption of New IFRSs has no material effect on the 
financial statements except for the adoption of IAS 17. 

 In prior years, leasehold land and buildings held for own use were stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Under IAS 17, leasehold land is classified as an operating lease 
because the title of the land is not expected to be passed to the Group by the end of the lease term, 
and is reclassified from property, plant and equipment to prepaid land lease payments.  This change in 
accounting policy has had no material effect on the consolidated income statement and accumulated 
losses.  The comparative amounts for the year ended 31 May 2005 in the consolidated balance sheet and 
the consolidated cash flow statement have been restated to reflect the reclassification of the leasehold 
land.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

 At the date of this report, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

IAS 1 (Amendment) (Note f) Capital disclosures
IAS 19 (Amendment) (Note b) Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures
IAS 21 (Amendment) (Note b) The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
IAS 39 (Amendment) (Note b) Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions
IAS 39 (Amendment) (Note b) The fair value option
IFRS 4 & IAS 39 (Amendment) (Note b) Financial guarantee contracts
IFRS 6 (Note b) Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
IFRS 7 (Note f) Financial instruments – Disclosures
IFRIC 4 (Note b) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease
IFRIC 5 (Note b) Rights to Interests arising from decommissioning, restoration and 

environmental rehabilitation funds
IFRIC 6 (Note a) Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market – Waste 

electrical and electronic equipment
IFRIC 7 (Note c) Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29 Financial 

reporting in hyperinflationary economies
IFRIC 8 (Note d) Scope of IFRS 2
IFRIC 9 (Note e) Reassessment of embedded derivatives

 Notes:
 (a) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005
 (b)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006
 (c)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006
 (d)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006
 (e)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006
 (f)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
 Basis of consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
made up to 31 May 2006.  The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
consolidated from or to their effective dates of acquisition or disposal, respectively.  All significant intra-group 
transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

 Subsidiaries
  
 A subsidiary is a company whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or 

indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  

 The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.   



29

Notes to Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 May 2006

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited 
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

 The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Expenditure incurred after property, plant and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the 
income statement of the year in which it is incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that 
the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from 
the use of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that 
asset.

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, 
less any estimated residual values, over the following estimated useful lives:

 Buildings 50 years or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
 Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
 Plant and machinery 4 years
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 years
 Motor vehicles 4 years

 The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of a property, plant and equipment recognised in the income 
statement is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

 Impairment of assets

 Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.  An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s 
or cash generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

 An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.  An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises, 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in 
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of 
that asset, however not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of any depreciation/amortisation), had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  
A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for 
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out 
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of overheads.  Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal, after making due allowance for obsolete and 
slow-moving items.

 Accounts and other receivables

 Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.  A provision for impairment 
of accounts and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.  The amount of the provision is recognised in the income 
statement. When the effect of discounting is not material, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment 
losses for bad and doubtful debts.

 Trade and other payables

 Liabilities for trade and other payables which are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would not 
be material, in which case they are stated at cost.

 Provisions and contingencies

 A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 
the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.  The 
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance 
costs in the income statement.

 Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements.  They are disclosed unless the possibility 
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  A contingent asset is not recognised in 
the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

 All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received 
net of issue costs associated with the borrowing.

 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, 
and any discount or premium on settlement.

 Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through 
the amortisation process.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

 (i) from the sale of playground equipment, safety surface, sports surface, garden furniture and other 
recyclable products, when the installation work is completed and the customer has accepted the 
goods, together with the risks and rewards of ownership of such goods, provided that the Group 
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective control over the goods sold;

 (ii) interest income, on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and the 
effective interest rate applicable; and

 (iii) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

 Research and development costs

 All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

 Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the 
projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is separately identifiable and can be measured reliably; there 
is reasonable certainty that the projects are technically feasible; and the products have commercial value. 
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

 During the years presented, all research and development costs incurred had been charged to the income 
statement in the year in which they were incurred.

 Income tax

 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in 
equity if it relates to items that are recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  
Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used to determine deferred tax.

 Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full on all taxable temporary differences while deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

 Leased assets

 Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than 
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.  At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased 
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with 
the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.  Assets held under 
capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets.  The finance costs of such leases are 
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

 Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 
accounted for as operating leases.  Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases 
are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

 Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised 
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.  When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably 
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land 
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Foreign currencies

 All the books and records of the companies in the Group are maintained in HK$, except for the subsidiary 
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) of which its books and records are maintained in 
Reminbi.

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the applicable exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated 
at the applicable exchange rates ruling at that date.  Exchange differences are dealt with in the income 
statement.

 On consolidation, the balance sheet of overseas subsidiaries are translated into HK$ at the applicable rates 
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date whilst the income statement is translated at an weighted 
average exchange rate.  The resulting transaction differences are included in the exchange fluctuation 
reserves.

 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

 Employee benefits 

 (i) Pension scheme 

  The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme 
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those 
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.  Contributions are made based on 
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.  The assets of the MPF Scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.  The Group’s 
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

  The contributions of the subsidiary companies in the PRC made to the local municipal government 
retirement scheme in the PRC are expensed as incurred while the local municipal government in the 
PRC undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees of the 
qualified staff in the PRC.

 (ii) Share-based compensation

  No compensation cost is recognised in the income statement in connection with share options 
granted.  When share options are granted, the fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense.  The total amount to be 
expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.  
The proceeds received net of any transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) 
and share premium when the options are exercised.

 Related parties

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties 
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.  
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.



33

Notes to Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 May 2006

Jets Technics International Holdings Limited 
(a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Annual Report 2006

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a 
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

 For the purpose of the consolidated balance sheet, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and 
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the directors and senior management of 
the Group received remuneration totaling approximately HK$5,961,000 (2005: HK$5,998,000) for the year 
ended 31 May 2006.  The remuneration shown above does not include the estimated monetary value of 
the Group’s owned premises provided rent-free to two executive directors of the Company.  The estimated 
rental value of such accommodation was approximately HK$834,000 (2005: HK$930,000) for the year.  

 
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s primary segment reporting basis, by business 
segment.  In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments 
based on the location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of 
the assets.  No further geographical segment information is presented as over 90% of the Group’s revenue 
is derived from customers based in Hong Kong, and over 90% of the Group’s assets are located in Hong 
Kong.

 The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately, according to the nature of their 
operations and the products and services they provide.  Each of the Group’s business segments represents 
a strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are 
different from those of the other business segments.  Summary details of the business segments are as 
follows:

 (i) the safety surface segment engages in the manufacturing and trading of safety surfaces;

 (ii) the sports surface segment engages in the manufacturing and trading of sports surfaces;

 (iii) the playground equipment segment engages in the manufacturing and trading of playground 
equipment;

 (iv) the garden furniture segment engages in the manufacturing and trading of garden furniture; and

 (v) the others segment comprises the Group’s manufacturing and trading of other recyclable products 
and the provision of related services.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

 The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset, liability and expenditure information of the 
Group’s business segments.

Year ended 31 May 2006
Safety  

surface 
Sports 

surface 
Playground 
equipment 

Garden 
furniture  Others Consolidated 

 HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Segment revenue:

 Sales to external customers 12,134 8,324 9,589 22,374 10,674 63,095

 Segment results (355) (57) (149) (435) 661 (335)

Interest and other unallocated 
 income 1,127

Unallocated expenses (20,917)

Profit from operating activities (20,125)

Finance costs (428)

Profit before tax (20,553)

Income tax 1,207

Net profit from ordinary 
 activities attributable to
 shareholders (19,346)

Segment assets 8,598 7,115 7,841 15,451 4,804 43,809

Unallocated assets 52,279

Total assets 96,088

Segment liabilities 1,968 821 754 3,106 942 7,591

Unallocated liabilities 12,749

Total liabilities 20,340

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 
 of prepaid land lease 
 payments 787 735 752 1,088 147 3,509

Unallocated amounts 1,438

4,947

Capital expenditure 1,182 1,152 1,162 1,686 84 5,266

Unallocated amounts 515

5,781

Provision for doubtful debts
 and bad debts written off 404 277 319 745 355 2,100
Write-back of provision for 
 doubtful debts (93) (63) (73) (171) (81) (481)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 May 2005
Safety  

surface 
Sports 

surface 
Playground 
equipment 

Garden 
furniture  Others Consolidated 

 HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 

Segment revenue:

 Sales to external customers 16,675 11,724 22,828 41,690 9,519 102,436

 Segment results 5,320 2,893 8,349 14,123 5,124 35.809

Interest and other unallocated
 income 388

Unallocated expenses (17,732)

Profit from operating activities 18,465

Finance costs (277)

Profit before tax 18,188

Income tax (3,472)

Net profit from ordinary 
 activities attributable to 
 shareholders 14,716

Segment assets 9,913 6,142 11,503 19,121 3,319 49,998

Unallocated assets 77,165

Total assets 127,163

Segment liabilities 1,836 1,622 1,813 3,475 543 9,289

Unallocated liabilities 18,262

Total liabilities 27,551

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 
 of prepaid land lease 
 payments 547 509 595 862 74 2,587

Unallocated amounts 1,238

3,825

Capital expenditure 1,334 1,289 1,389 1,787 86 5,885

Unallocated amounts 1,044

6,929

Provision for doubtful debts
 and bad debts written off 267 188 365 667 153 1,640
Write-back of provision for 
 doubtful debts (62) (44) (85) (156) (36) (383)
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

 The Group’s revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade 
discounts, and after elimination of all significant intra-Group transactions.  Analysis of the Group’s revenue by 
activities has been set out in note 5.

 An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 897 272
Other 230   116

1,127   388

 The Company does not have any revenue during the year.  In 2005, the Company’s revenue represents 
dividend income received from its subsidiaries.

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 The Group’s and the Company’s (loss)/profit from operating activities are arrived at after charging/(crediting): 

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Depreciation 4,592 3,470 – –
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 
 payments

355 355 – –

Staff costs (including directors’ 
 remuneration)
  Salaries and wages 29,113 31,517 502 459
  Retirement scheme contributions 1,314    1,354 – –

30,427 32,871 502   459

Directors’ remuneration*
  Fees 502 459 502 459
  Other emoluments 3,002 2,952 – –
Auditors’ remuneration 420 660 – –
Product development costs 2,685 2,595 – –
Minimum lease payments under 
 operating leases in respect of land 
 and buildings 3,450 3,039 – –
Provision for doubtful debts and bad 
 debts written off

2,100 1,640 – –

Write-back of provision for doubtful 
 debts

(481) (383) – –

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment, net (233) (60) – –
Write-off of property, plant and 
 equipment

– 75 – –

Write-back of impairment of property, 
 plant and equipment** – (1,000) – –
Exchange (gain)/loss, net (37) 10 – –
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7. (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

 * The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for each of the years ended 31 May 2006 and 2005, 
were all below SGD250,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,179,000).

 ** The write-back of impairment of property, plant and equipment was included in “Other operating expenses” on the 
face of the consolidated income statement.

8. FINANCE COSTS

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on:
  Bank loans and borrowings 428 267 – –
  Finance leases –     10 – –

428   277 – –

9. INCOME TAX

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current taxation:
Hong Kong profits tax 10 3,061 – –
Over-provision in respect of previous 
 years

(754) – – –

Deferred taxation: 
Obligations and reversal of temporary 
 differences (note 20) (463)    411 – –

Tax (credit)/charge for the year (1,207) 3,472 –     –

 Tax (credit)/charge represents (over-provision)/provision for Hong Kong profits tax.  Hong Kong profits tax has 
been calculated at the rate of 17.5% (2005: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong 
Kong during the year.
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9. INCOME TAX (Continued)

 A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax at the statutory rate to tax 
expense at the effective tax rate is presented below:

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (20,553) 18,188 (502) 17,540

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 17.5% (3,597) 3,183 (88) 3,070
Effect of different tax rates of a 
 subsidiary company operating in the 
 PRC (88) – – –
Non-deductible expenses 79 653 88  –
Non-taxable revenue (197) (374) – (3,070)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not 
 recognised (67) – – –
Over provision in the prior years (754) – – –
Tax losses not recognised 3,500       10 – –
Others (83) – – –

Tax (credit)/charge at the effective tax 
 rate (1,207)  3,472 – –

Effective tax rate 5.9% 19.1% – –

10. DIVIDENDS 

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Declared and paid during the year
Final dividend for 2005 – SGD0.004 (equivalent to approximately
 HK$0.019) per ordinary share (2004: SGD0.005 (equivalent to
 approximately HK$0.023) per ordinary share) 4,551 5,697

Interim dividend for 2006 – Nil (2005: SGD0.004 (equivalent to
 approximately HK$0.019) per ordinary share) – 4,693

4,551 10,390

Proposed dividend for approval
Final dividend for 2006 – Nil (2005: SGD0.004 (equivalent to
 approximately HK$0.019) per ordinary share) – 4,551

 There is no final dividend proposed by the board of directors for the financial year ended 31 May 2006.
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11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

 The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the net loss from ordinary activities attributable 
to shareholders for the year of HK$19,346,000 (2005: net profit of HK$14,716,000) and on 246,364,000 
(2005: the weighted average number of 242,298,247) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

 There were no share options issued and, accordingly, there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares in 
existence for the financial year ended 31 May 2006.

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 48,072 48,072

 The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 
repayment.

 Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out below:

Name
Place of 

incorporation

Nominal value 
of issued 

ordinary share 
capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Directly held

Classic Master # BVI US$2,000 100 Investment holding

Indirectly held

Jets Technics Limited # Hong Kong HK$300,000 100 Manufacture 
and trading 
of playground 
equipment, safety 
surface, sports 
surface, garden 
furniture and 
other recyclable 
products

Jets Consultants Limited # Hong Kong HK$2 100 Installation of 
playground 
equipment, safety 
surface, sports 
surface and 
garden furniture

Jets Technology &
 Laboratory Limited #

Hong Kong HK$2 100 Manufacture of 
semi-finished 
components 
for playground 
equipment
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
 

Name
Place of 

incorporation

Nominal value 
of issued 

ordinary share 
capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Asia Legend International 
 Limited #

BVI US$1 100 Dormant

Guangzhou Jets Recycled  
 Products Co., Ltd. #

PRC HK$4,800,000 100 Manufacture 
and trading 
of playground 
equipment, safety 
surface, sports 
surface, garden 
furniture and 
other recyclable 
products

 
 # Audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong, for statutory or consolidation 

purposes.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 

Group

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 June 2005 (restated) 4,249 6,194 10,834 7,685 3,978 32,940
Additions – 2,119 2,650 515 497 5,781

Disposals – – (491) (2) (736) (1,229)

At 31 May 2006 4,249 8,313 12,993 8,198 3,739 37,492

Accumulated depreciation  
 and impairment:
At 1 June 2005 (restated) 576 5,062 6,324 5,723 2,251 19,936
Depreciation provided
 during the year 85 941 1,844 998 724 4,592
Disposals – – (163) – (497) (660)

At 31 May 2006 661 6,003 8,005 6,721 2,478 23,868

Net book value:
At 31 May 2006 3,588 2,310 4,988 1,477 1,261 13,624

At 31 May 2005 (restated) 3,673 1,132 4,510 1,962 1,727 13,004
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 June 2004 
- as originally stated 22,017 5,251 7,011 7,628 3,521 45,428

- effect of IAS 17 (17,768) – – – – (17,768)

- as restated 4,249 5,251 7,011 7,628 3,521 27,660
Additions – 1,141 3,823 1,044 921 6,929
Disposals – – – (3) (464) (467)
Write-off – (198) – (984) – (1,182)

At 31 May 2005 (restated) 4,249 6,194 10,834 7,685 3,978 32,940

Accumulated depreciation
 and impairment:
At 1 June 2004 
- as originally stated 3,543 4,524 5,136 5,906 1,814 20,923
- effect of IAS 17 (2,053) – – – – (2,053)

- as restated 1,490 4,524 5,136 5,906 1,814 18,870
Depreciation provided
 during the year 86 665 1,188 797 734 3,470
Write-back of impairment
 during the year (1,000) – – – – (1,000)
Disposals – – – – (297) (297)
Write-off – (127) – (980) – (1,107)

At 31 May 2005 (restated) 576 5,062 6,324 5,723 2,251 19,936

Net book value:
At 31 May 2005 (restated) 3,673 1,132 4,510 1,962 1,727 13,004

At 31 May 2004 18,474 727 1,875 1,722 1,707 24,505

 All of the Group’s buildings are situated in Hong Kong, held under medium term leases and have been 
provided as rent-free accommodation to two executive directors of the Company.

 All of the Group’s buildings were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 
19).
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 June
 As previously reported – –
 Effect of adoption of IAS 17 (note 2) 15,360 15,715

 As restated 15,360 15,715
Amortisation recognised during the year (355) (355)

Carrying amount at 31 May 15,005 15,360
Current portion (355) (355)

Non-current portion 14,650 15,005

 The Group’s leasehold land is all situated in Hong Kong and is held under medium term leases.

 All of the Group’s leasehold land was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group 
(note 19).

15. INVENTORIES

Group
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 4,711 5,312
Work in progress 9,051 6,991

13,762 12,303

 No inventories were carried at net realisable value as at 31 May 2006 (2005: Nil).

16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Group
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable 27,059 34,697
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (5,571) (4,371)

21,488 30,326
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17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 1,100 1,783
Deposits 2,067 2,356

Other receivables 1,146 972

4,313  5,111

18. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued liabilities 2,977 3,073
Other payables 898 545

3,875  3,618

19. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
 

Group
2006 2005

Effective interest rate % Maturities HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
Bank loans (secured) BLR* - 2.8 to BLR* - 2.3 2006 676 744

Non-current
Bank loans (secured) BLR* - 2.8 to BLR* - 2.3 2013 - 2018 8,195 8,798

 * BLR represents Hong Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate.

 The Group’s banking facilities were secured by legal charges over all of the Group’s leasehold land 
and buildings (notes 13 and 14) and corporate guarantees executed by the Company to the extent of 
approximately HK$17 million.
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION 
 
 The movement in the Group’s deferred tax (assets)/liabilities during the year are as follows: 

Accelerated tax 
depreciation

HK$’000

At 1 June 2004 7

Charged to the income statement for the year 411

At 31 May 2005 418

Credited to the income statement for the year (note 9) (463)

At 31 May 2006 (45)

 At 31 May 2006, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$19,500,000 (2005: HK$595,826) available 
for offsetting against future profits.  No deferred tax assets have been recognised of such losses due to 
unpredictability of future profit streams. All unused tax losses may be carried indefinitely.

21. SHARE CAPITAL 

Company
2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000
Authorised:
 3,636,363,636 (2005: 3,636,363,636) ordinary shares of
  HK$0.22 each 800,000 800,000

Issued and fully paid:
 246,364,000 (2005: 246,364,000) ordinary shares of 
  HK$0.22 each 54,200 54,200

22. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

 The contributed surplus of the Company represented the excess of the then combined net asset value 
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation as set out in note 1 to the financial 
statements, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 The Group leases certain of its office premises, factory, director’s quarters and staff quarters under non-
cancellable operating leases with remaining lease terms between one to ten years.

 At the balance sheet date, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,436 2,527
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 6,234 5,290
Over five years 3,223 –

12,893 7,817

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 (i) The Group’s certain non-core manufacturing facilities are erected on two adjacent pieces of land 
located at Tai Po Industrial Estate, Hong Kong and are used for the collection and sorting of materials 
and finished products and storage.

  Under both tenancy agreements for the two pieces of land, the landlord may terminate the Group’s 
tenancy at any time in accordance with the terms of the respective tenancy agreements.  In 
addition, under both tenancy agreements, the Group has to comply with various obligations set out 
therein.

  The Group has not obtained the required building approval and there is no assurance that the 
Group has fully complied with all the obligations and conditions under the two tenancy agreements, 
although the Group has not received any notice from the landlord of its intention to terminate the 
tenancy agreements.  If either tenancy is terminated as a result of a breach by the Group of any 
condition under the tenancy agreements, the landlord may require the Group at its own expense to 
remove and demolish any building, structure or surface on the manufacturing sites.  As the building 
structures currently erected on the manufacturing sites are not complex, the directors believe the 
costs of demolishing such structures would be minimal.

  In the event that the tenancy agreements are terminated by the landlord, the Group would have to 
relocate its non-core manufacturing facilities and write off all the immovable assets located thereon 
which are, however, of immaterial carrying value.

 (ii) The Company has provided corporate guarantees to the extent of approximately HK$17 million to 
banks in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary, which were utilised up to approximately 
HK$9.9 million as at 31 May 2006 (2005: HK$12 million).
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines.  However, the board of directors 
meet periodically to analyse and formulate measurements to manage the Group’s exposure to financial 
risk, including principally the credit risk and changes in currency exchange rates.  Generally, the Group 
employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management.  As the Group’s exposure to market risk is 
kept at a minimal level, the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes.  
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

 At 31 May 2006, the Group’s principal financial instruments mainly consisted of cash and bank balances, 
accounts receivable, prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables, accrued 
liabilities and other payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

 (i) Interest rate risk

  The Group’s interest rate exposure relates primarily to the outstanding amounts of long-term debt 
obligations.  The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s bank loans are disclosed in 
note 19.

 (ii) Foreign currency risk

  The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign currency exchange rate relates primarily 
to certain accounts receivable, trade payables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables in 
currencies other than the reporting currency of the HK$.  The Group does not use derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk.

 (iii) Credit risk

  The carrying amounts of accounts receivable included in the consolidated balance sheet represent 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.  No other 
financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.  The Group has no significant concentration 
of credit risk due to the Group’s large customer base.

  The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial condition and requires 
no collateral from its customers.  The allowance for doubtful debts is based upon a review of the 
expected collectibility of the accounts receivable.

 (iv) Fair values

  The carrying amount of the secured bank loans approximates its fair value as the loans bear 
interest at variable rates.  The fair values of the Group’s other financial instruments are not materially 
different from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short maturities of these financial 
instruments.

26. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2006 were approved and authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 1 September 2006.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Jets Technics International Holdings Limited recognizes the importance of 
good corporate governance in ensuring greater transparency, protecting the interests of the shareholders of the 
Company (the “Shareholders”) as well as strengthening investors’ confidence in its management and financial 
reporting. The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) based on which its operations, businesses and strategies are directed 
and controlled. 

This Report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific reference to the 
Code.

1. Board of Directors

1.1  The Board’s conduct of its affairs

 The primary role of the Board is to protect and enhance Shareholder value. Whereas the Board is collectively 
responsible for the success of the Company, it works with the management of the Company (the 
“Management”) towards achieving this end. Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board’s decision 
are those involving interested person transactions, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate 
and financial restructuring, share issuances, dividends and other returns to Shareholders.

 The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings. Additional meetings may be convened when 
circumstance require. The Company’s Bye-Laws provide for meetings to be held via telephone and video 
conferencing. The Board is supported by the Audit Committee (the “AC”), the Nominating Committee (the 
“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (the “RC”). 

 Newly appointed Directors are issued with a formal letter by the Company Secretary setting out the director’s 
duties and advising them of their disclosure obligations under the SGX-ST Listing Manual (“Listing Manual”) 
and the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. Management also conducts orientation programs for new 
Directors to familiarize them with the business activities of the Group, its strategic direction and corporate 
governance practices.
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During the financial year in review, the attendance of the Directors at Board meetings and committee 
meetings, as well as the frequency of such meetings, is as follows:

Board
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committtee Audit Committee

Name of Director
No. of 

meetings 
held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Executive Directors

So Tat Wing 3 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

So Tat Chiu1 3 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

So Tat Cho 3 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Wong Ying Lee1 3 4 3 3 1 1 1 1 N/A N/A

Chan Yin Ming, Dennis2 3 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Director

Ong Chor Wei 5 3 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 3

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors

Au Chun Kwok 
 Augustus 3 4

3 3 1 1 1 1 N/A N/A

Seah Hou Kee 3 5 3 3 1 1 N/A N/A 3 3

Cheung King Kwok 4 5 3 3 N/A N/A 1 1 3 3

 Notes:

 1. Mr. So Tat Chiu and Ms. Wong Ying Lee have resigned as Executive Directors on 28 July 2006. Ms. Wong Ying Lee 
has resigned as member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee respectively on the same 
date.

 2. Mr. Chan Yin Ming, Dennis was appointed as an Executive Director on 1 July 2006.

 3. Members of Nomination Committee

 4. Members of Remuneration Committee

 5. Members of Audit Committee

 All the Directors are updated regularly on changes in Company policies, Board processes, corporate 
governance and best practices.

1.2 Board Composition and Balance

 The NC reviews the size and composition of the Board and ensures, among other things, that the Board has 
an appropriate balance of independent Directors and that the size of the Board is conducive to effective 
discussions and decision-making. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors, three 
of whom are Executive Directors, one of whom is Non-executive Director and the remaining three are 
Independent Non-executive Directors. The NC reviews the independence of each Director on an annual 
basis and adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes an independent non-executive director in its 
review. In particular, it considers a Director as independent if he has no relationship with the Group or its 
officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director ’s 
independent business judgment with a view to the best interest of the Company.
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 As a Group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and experience 
in areas such as accounting, finance, law, business and management, strategic planning and customer 
service.

 The Non-executive Director help to develop proposals on strategy, review the performance of the 
Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance. 

1.3 Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 Our Group’s Chairman, Mr. So Tat Wing is also our Managing Director. Mr. So, as a co-founder, has played 
an instrumental role in developing the business of our Group. He has considerable industry experience and 
has also provided our Group with strong leadership and vision. It is hence the view of the Board that it is in 
the best interests of our Group to adopt a single leadership structure, whereby the Chairman and Managing 
Director are the same individual. Notwithstanding the dual role of Mr. So Tat Wing as Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer, the strong element of independence of the Board and that all the Directors including 
Independent and Non-executive Directors have demonstrated high commitment in their roles as directors, 
ensure a good balance of power and authority.

1.4 Board Membership

 The NC reviews and assesses candidates for directorships before making recommendations to the Board. 
As at the date of this report, the NC comprises one Executive Director, namely Mr. So Tat Wing and two 
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Au Chun Kwok Augustus and Mr. Seah Hou Kee.  The NC 
Chairman, Mr. Au Chun Kwok Augustus, is not a substantial shareholder and is not directly associated with a 
substantial shareholder of the Company. Our NC will be responsible for (a) the selection and appointment 
of new Directors and re-nomination of our Directors having regard to the Director ’s contribution and 
performance, (b) determining annually whether or not a Director is independent and (c) deciding whether 
or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director.

 In recommending new directors to the Board, the NC takes into consideration the skills and experience 
required and the current composition of the Board, and strives to ensure that the Board has an appropriate 
balance of independent Directors as well as Directors with the right profile of expertise, skills, attributes and 
ability. Further, the NC takes into consideration a variety of factors such as attendance, preparedness, 
participation and candor in evaluating a Director’s contribution and performance for the purpose of re-
nomination.

 The NC determines annually if a Director is independent. The NC has the discretion to determine that a 
Director is non-independent even if he does not fall under the circumstances set forth in paragraph 
1.2 above and the Code. The NC is also charged with the responsibility of deciding whether a Director, 
particularly when he/she has multiple board representations, is able to carry out his/her duties as a director 
of the Company.

1.5 Board Performance

 The Board will on an annual basis implement a process to be carried out by the NC for assessing the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and for assessing the contribution by each individual Director to the 
effectiveness of the Board. 

 The performance criteria for the Board evaluation are based on financial and non-financial indicators such 
as an evaluation of size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, Board processes, 
strategy and planning, risk management, accountability, Board performance in relation to discharging its 
principal functions, communication with senior management, standards of conduct of the Directors and the 
Company’s share performance over a five-year period.

 In terms of evaluation of individual Directors, they are assessed on their ability to contribute effectively as 
well as the level of their commitment to the role (including commitment of time for Board and committee 
meetings, and any other duties). 
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 The Chairman acts on the results of the performance evaluation, and where appropriate, proposes new 
members be appointed to the Board or seeks the resignation of Directors, in consultation with the NC. Each 
member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making any recommendations and/or 
participating in any distributions of the NC in respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination 
Director. 

1.6 Access to Information

 The Board is supplied with relevant information and comprehensive analysis by Management pertaining to 
matters to be brought before the Board for discussion and decision. Management also ensures that the 
Board receive regular reports on the Group’s financial performance and operations. The Board has separate 
and independent access to senior management and the Company Secretary at all times. The Company 
Secretary attends to all corporate secretarial and compliance matters and also attends all Board meetings. 
To assist Board members in fulfilling their responsibilities, procedures have been put in place for Directors to 
seek independent professional advice, where appropriate, at the expense of the Company.

2. Remuneration Matters

2.1 Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

 As at the date of this report, the RC comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely 
Mr. Cheung King Kwok and Mr. Au Chun Kwok Augustus and one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Ong 
Chor Wei. The Chairman of the RC is Mr. Cheung King Kwok. Our RC will be responsible for recommending 
to our Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key executives, setting up remuneration 
policies and determining specific remuneration packages for each Director and key executive based 
on their performance and also reviewing the remuneration thereof. RC has access to expert professional 
advice on human resource matters whenever there is a need to consult externally. In its deliberations, the 
RC takes into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation, in addition to the Company’s 
relative performance to the industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The recommendations 
of the RC will be submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. All aspects of remuneration, including 
but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, long-term incentive schemes and 
benefits in kind shall be covered by our RC. 

 The RC meets at least once every financial year. Each member of the RC will abstain from voting on any 
resolutions and making recommendations and/or participating in any deliberations of the RC in respect of 
his remuneration package. 

2.2 Level and Mix of Remuneration

 The level of remuneration is structured such that it links rewards to corporate and individual performance. 
The RC ensures the level of remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors to run 
the Company successfully. The performance related elements of remuneration are designed so as to align 
the interests of Executive Directors with those of Shareholders. These elements include (1) fixed component 
(i.e. basic salary); (2) variable component (i.e. performance bonus); (3) benefits provided consistent with 
market practices including medical benefits, call allowance, club benefits and housing subsidy. In setting 
remuneration packages, the RC takes into consideration the pay and employment conditions within the 
industry and in comparable companies.

 The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is linked to their level of contribution, taking into account factors 
such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the Directors. 

 The Company has entered into separate service contracts with our Executive Directors for an initial period of 
3 years. The RC reviews the compensation commitments for early termination under the service contracts.
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2.3 Disclosure on Remuneration

 Remuneration paid to our Directors for the financial year ended 31 May 2006 (FY2006) is as follows:

Remuneration band and
Name of Director

Base/fixed 
salary

Variable or performance 
related income/bonus

Director’s 
fee

Other 
benefits

Below S$250,000

Executive Directors

So Tat Wing1 100% – – –4

So Tat Chiu1  2 100% – – –4

So Tat Cho1 65% – – 35%

Wong Ying Lee2 100% – – –

Chan Yin Ming, Dennis3 – – – –

Non-executive Director

Ong Chor Wei – – 100% –

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors

Au Chun Kwok Augustus – – 100% –

Seah Hou Kee – – 100% –

Cheung King Kwok – – 100% –

 Notes:

 1. Mr. So Tat Chiu and Mr. So Tat Cho are the brothers of Mr. So Tat Wing.

 2. Mr. So Tat Chiu and Ms. Wong Ying Lee have resigned as Executive Directors on 28 July 2006.

 3. Mr. Chan Yin Ming, Dennis was appointed as an Executive Director on 1 July 2006.
 
 4. Mr. So Tat Wing and Mr. So Tat Chiu are provided with free accomodation on properties held by the Group.

 Remuneration of Key Employees

 Remuneration paid to our key employees (who are not Directors of the Company) for the financial year 
ended 31 May 2006 (FY2006) is as follows:

Remuneration band and 
Name of Executive Officer

Base / fixed
salary

Variable or 
performance 

related income/ 
bonus Other benefits

Below S$250,000
Chung Ka Kui 100% – –
Yu Sui Fan 53% 47% –
Li Chun Wa 61% – 39%
Lau Yeung Wai 100% – –
Wong Chi Bun 100% – –

 Save for Mr. So Tat Wing, Mr. So Tat Chiu and Mr. So Tat Cho who are brothers, there are no employees in the 
Group who are immediate family members of our Directors.
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3. Accountability and Audit

3.1 Accountability

 The Board has overall responsibility to provide a balance and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects in respect of the Company’s reports and financial statements and 
other price sensitive information to regulators and shareholders.

3.2 Audit Committee

 Our Executive Directors will continue to manage the operations of our Company and its subsidiaries, and our 
AC will provide the necessary checks and balances as set out below. Our AC comprises two Independent 
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Seah Hou Kee and Mr. Cheung King Kwok and the Non-executive 
Director namely Mr. Ong Chor Wei. The chairman of the AC is Mr. Seah Hou Kee. 

 Our AC will provide a channel of communication between our Board, our Management and our external 
auditors on matters relating to audit. The responsibilities of our AC include:

 (a) review with the external auditors and where applicable, our internal auditors, their audit plans, 
their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls, their letter to Management and the 
Management’s response;

 (b) review the interim and annual financial statements and balance sheet and profit and loss accounts 
before submission to our Board for approval, focusing in particular on changes in accounting policies 
and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit compliance with 
accounting standards and compliance with the Listing Manual and any other relevant statutory or 
regulatory requirements;

 (c) ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and our Management, and review the assistance 
given by our Management to the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from 
the interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence 
of our Management, where necessary);

 (d) review and discuss with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected 
infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact 
on our Group’s operating results or financial position, and our Management’s response;

 (e) make recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the 
external auditor(s) and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external 
auditor;

 (f) review the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors, review the nature and extent of non-audit services, where 
applicable;

 (g) review the significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the 
financial statements and any formal announcements relating to our financial performance;

 (h) review arrangements by which our staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters; and

 (i) review the adequacy of our internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk 
management policies and systems established by our Management.

 Apart from the responsibilities listed above, the AC has explicit authority to investigate any matters within 
its terms of reference and has full access to and cooperation from Management, in addition to its direct 
access to the external auditors. If required, the AC has authority to seek external resources to enable it to 
discharge its functions properly, including obtaining legal or other professional advice and services.
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 The AC has reviewed the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 May 2006 as well as the auditors’ reports thereon and interested person transactions of the Group 
in the said financial year.

 There is no non-audit service provided by the external auditors to the Company and the Group in the 
financial year ended 31 May 2006 and no non-audit fee has been paid to the auditors during the financial 
year.

 Each member of our AC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of matters in which he is or 
may be interested.

3.3 Internal Controls

 The AC reviews the adequacy of the Company’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance 
controls, and risk management policies and systems established by the Management (collectively “internal 
controls”).

 The Board is responsible for the overall internal control framework and is fully aware of the need to put in 
place a system of internal controls within the Group to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and the Group’s 
assets, and to manage risks. The Board also acknowledges that no cost effective internal control system will 
preclude all errors and irregularities. A system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

3.4 Internal Audit

 The Company does not have in place an independent internal audit function as the Board is of the 
view that the appointment is not imminent under current circumstances, taking into account the current 
corporate structure and scope of the Group’s operations.

 The Group’s external auditors, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, certified Public Accountants. Hong Kong, 
contribute an independent perspective on relevant internal controls arising from their audit and report 
findings to the AC.

4. Communication with Shareholders

4.1 Communication with Shareholders

 The Company believes in engaging in regular, effective and fair communication with Shareholders and is 
committed to conveying pertinent information to Shareholders on a timely basis. The Company takes care 
to ensure that information that is made publicly available on a timely basis. Disclosure of information is 
made through announcements to the SGX-ST, the Company’s annual reports, circulars for Special General 
Meetings and press releases.

4.2 Greater Shareholder Participation

 The Company believes in encouraging Shareholder participation at general meetings. The Company’s 
Bye-Laws allow a Shareholder entitled to attend and vote to appoint a proxy who need not be a 
shareholder of the Company to attend and vote at the meetings. Separate resolutions are proposed on 
each substantially separate issue at general meetings.

 The chairpersons of the Board and committees are present and available to address questions at general 
meetings. The external auditors are also present to address Shareholders’ queries relating to the conduct of 
audits and the preparation and contents of the auditors’ reports.
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5. Dealings in Securities

 The Group is in the midst of devising and adopting its own internal compliance code to provide guidance 
to the Company and its officers (including Directors, employees, consultants and staff of the Company) 
(“Jets Officers“) with regard to dealing in the Company’s securities. In general, if any of the Jets Officers 
possesses inside information that is not generally available, such Jets Officer is prohibited from dealing or 
procuring any other person to deal in those securities and from directly or indirectly communicating the 
information to another person who the Jets Officer believes is likely to deal in, or procure another person 
to deal in those securities. A Jets Officer should also not deal in the Company’s securities on short-term 
considerations.

 Pursuant to the Listing Manual, the Company and any Jets Officers shall not deal in the Company’s securities 
during the period commencing one month before the date of announcement of the Company’s half year 
or full year financial results. 

6. Risk Management

 The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, the Management regularly reviews 
the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as 
appropriate measure to control and mitigate these risks. The Management reviews all significant control 
policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Directors and the AC.

7. Material Contracts

 There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests, direct or deemed, 
of the Managing Director or any Director or controlling Shareholders (as defined in the SGX-ST Listing Manual), 
either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 May 2006.

8. Interested Persons Transactions

 The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported 
in a timely manner to the AC and that such transactions are carried out at arms’ length and on normal 
commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company, its subsidiaries and its minority 
Shareholders. Our AC will review and approve all interested person transactions as defined by the SGX-ST 
Listing Manual.

 During the financial year ended 31 May 2006, the following interested person transactions were entered into 
by the Group:

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 

transactions (excluding 
transactions less than 

S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under a 

shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 

transactions conducted 
under a shareholders’ 

mandate pursuant to Rule 
920 (excluding transactions 

less than S$100,000)

Actual Actual Actual Actual

FY2006 FY2005 FY2006 FY2005

Name of  interested person Nature HK$’000       HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Easy Full Investment Limited Rental expenses – 289 – –

 The Group’s banking facilities which were previously secured by unlimited joint and several personal 
guarantees executed by the two Executive Directors, Mr. So Tat Wing and Mr. So Tat Cho and an ex- 
Executive Director, Mr. So Tat Chiu were replaced by corporate guarantees executed by the Company 
during the financial year ended 31 May 2005. In FY2006, the Group’s banking facilities are secured by 
corporate guarantees executed by the Company as detailed in note 19 to the Financial Statements of this 
Annual Report.
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Authorised share capital  – HK$800,000,000 
Issued and fully paid-up  – HK$54,200,080 
Class of shares  – Ordinary shares of HK$0.22  each
Voting rights  – 1 vote per ordinary share 

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

Based on information available to the Company as at 25 August 2006, 30.42% of the issued ordinary shares of the 
Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

Analysis of Shareholders

No.  of  
Range of Shareholdings Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 999 4 0.36 310 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 781 69.79 2,764,000 1.12
10,001 – 1,000,000 322 28.78 31,612,078 12.83

1,000,001 and above 12 1.07 211,987,612 86.05

Total 1,119 100.00 246,364,000 100.00

Top 20 Shareholders

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Jets Technics International Limited 171,408,612 69.58
2 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 11,049,000 4.49
3 Wong Chi Bun 5,500,000 2.23
4 Chan Yuk Mei 4,750,000 1.93
5 Tan Mun Hoe or Tan Tiong Hoe 4,410,000 1.79
6 Nomura Singapore Limited 4,383,000 1.78
7 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 3,000,000 1.22
8 Palani A/L Mutusami 2,618,000 1.06
9 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 1,349,000 0.55
10 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,278,000 0.52
11 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 1,166,000 0.47
12 Lim Beak Leang 1,076,000 0.44
13 Yu Sui Fan 1,000,000 0.41
14 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 935,000 0.38
15 Quek Yiang Hang 902,000 0.37
16 Tay Hwa Lang 873,000 0.35
17 Lim Mee Hwa 800,000 0.32
18 Merrill Lynch (S’pore) Pte Ltd 800,000 0.32
19 Ong Eng Hock 600,000 0.24

20 Citibank Nominees S’pore Pte Ltd 572,000 0.23

         Total 218,469,612 88.68  
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

 No. of Shares  
 Direct  Deemed 
 Interests % Interests %
  
Jets Technics International Limited1 171,408,612 69.58 – –

So Tat Wing – – 171,408,612 69.58

So Tat Chiu – – 171,408,612 69.58

So Tat Cho – – 171,408,612 69.58

Note:-

1. Jets Technics International Limited is a corporation incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, whose shares are held by our 
Directors Mr. So Tat Wing (30%) and Mr. So Tat Cho (30%) and our ex-Directors Mr. So Tat Chiu (30%) and Ms. Wong Ying Lee 
(10%). As such, Mr. So Tat Wing, Mr. So Tat Chiu and Mr. So Tat Cho are deemed to have an interest in the shares held by 
Jets Technics International Limited.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of JETS TECHNICS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED (the 
“Company”) will be held at Casuarina Suite A, Level 3, Raffles Hotel, Singapore, 1 Beach Road, Singapore 189673 
on Friday, 29 September 2006 at 10:30 a.m. for the following purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 May 2006 together with the Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Bye-Laws 85(6) and 86 of the Bye-laws 
of the Company:

   Mr. Chan Yin Ming, Dennis
 Mr. Ong Chor Wei
                                                                        
3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of HK$10,000 per month for Non-executive 

Director, Mr. Ong Chor Wei and Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Au Chun Kwok 
Augustus and Mr. Cheung King Kwok; and S$2,500 per month for Independent Non-
executive Director, Mr. Seah Hou Kee for the financial year ended 31 May 2006.

4. To re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

 
5. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual 

General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions (with or without amendments) as 
Ordinary Resolutions:-

6. Authority to allot and issue shares up to fifty per cent. (50%) of issued capital

 “THAT, pursuant to Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (the “Listing Manual”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:- 

 (a) allot and issue shares in the Company; and

 (b) issue convertible securities and any shares in the Company pursuant to convertible 
securities

 (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) at any time and upon such terms and 
conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors shall in their 
absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares (including any 
shares to be issued pursuant to the convertible securities) in the Company to be issued 
pursuant to this authority shall not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the issued share capital 
of the Company and that the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities 
in the Company to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of 
the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent. (20%) of the issued share capital of the 
Company. Unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority 
shall continue in full force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law or 
by the Company’s Bye-laws to be held, whichever is earlier, except that the Directors 
shall be authorised to allot and issue new shares pursuant to the convertible securities 
notwithstanding that such authority has ceased.

Resolution 1

Resolution 2
Resolution 3

Resolution 4

Resolution 5
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 For the purposes of this resolution, the percentage of issued share capital shall be based 
on the Company’s issued share capital at the time of the passing of this resolution after 
adjusting for: - 

  (a)    new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or from 
exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the 
time of the passing of this resolution provided the options or awards were granted in 
compliance with the rules of the Listing Manual; and

  
  (b)   any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.”

7. Authority to grant options and issue shares under the Jets Technics Share Option Scheme

 “IT WAS RESOLVED THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant 
options under the Jets Technics Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and to allot and 
issue from time to time such number of shares in the Company as may be required to 
be issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the Scheme, provided always that the 
aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed fifteen 
per cent. (15%) of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time.”

By Order of the Board

Chung Ka Kui
Tan Min-Li
Joint Company Secretaries

Singapore, 14 September 2006

Notes :-

(i) If a Depositor whose name appears in the Depository Register holdings Shares through the CDP wishes: (a) to attend and 
vote at the Annual General Meeting, he/it should complete the Proxy Form accompanying the annual report appointing 
himself/itself as proxy; or (b) to appoint a proxy/proxies who shall be natural persons to attend and vote in his or its place 
as proxy/proxies for CDP, he/it should complete the Proxy Form to appoint such proxy/proxies, in accordance with the 
instructions printed thereon and deposit the duly completed Proxy Form at the office of the Singapore Shares Transfer 
Agent, Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd at 10 Collyer Quay #19-08, Ocean Building, Singapore 049315, at least 48 hours before the 
time of the Annual General Meeting.

 If a Shareholder wishes to appoint a proxy/proxies, then the Proxy Form accompanying the annual report must be 
completed in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and deposited at the office of the Singapore Share Transfer 
Agent, Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd at 10 Collyer Quay #19-08, Ocean Building, Singapore 049315, at least 48 hours before the 
time of the Annual General Meeting.

(ii) If re-elected under Resolution 2, Mr. Chan Yin Ming, Dennis will remain an Executive Director of the Company.

(iii) If re-elected under Resolution 3, Mr. Ong Chor Wei will remain a Non-executive Director of the Company, a member of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees respectively. 

Resolution 6

Resolution 7
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(iv) The Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 
Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the 
Company. The aggregate number of shares (including any shares issued pursuant to the convertible securities) which the 
Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution will not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the issued share capital (as 
defined in Resolution 6) of the Company. For issue of shares and convertible securities other than on a pro rata basis to all 
shareholders, the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed twenty per cent. (20%) of the issued share 
capital (as defined in Resolution 6) of the Company. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general 
meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law or by the Company’s Bye-laws to be held, whichever is the earlier. However, 
notwithstanding the cessation of this authority, the Directors are empowered to issue shares pursuant to any convertible 
securities issued under this authority. 

  
(v) The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to grant 

options and to allot and issue shares upon the exercise of such options in accordance with the Scheme.
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